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The rulings in this casebook are based on the Official Rules of Slow 0ÉÔÃÈ 3ÏÆÔÂÁÌÌ ɉȰ/ÆÆÉÃÉÁÌ 2ÕÌÅÓȱɊ 
of the World Baseball Softball Confederation (WBSC Softball), [formerly operating as the 
)ÎÔÅÒÎÁÔÉÏÎÁÌ 3ÏÆÔÂÁÌÌ &ÅÄÅÒÁÔÉÏÎ ɉȰ)3&ȱɊɎȢ Any misuse or reprinting of these Official Rules without 
the prior written consent of the WBSC Softball is prohibited. 
 
The Caseplays include references to Rules, Effects and Appendices of the Official Rules governing 
the playing of Slow Pitch Softball.  
 
The referenced Appendices and Effects form part of the Rule(s) in which they are cited and have 
the same force and effect as the Rule itself. The Table of Contents, where Rules are found, and the 
Index, a key word and subject matter indicator to the Rules, are for reference and do not form part 
of the Rules. 
 
WBSC Softball disclaims and does not accept responsibility for defects or non-compliance of 
facilities or failure of persons involved in a game played for any failure to follow or apply these 
Official Rules and or associated caseplay interpretations and guidance notes, and is not liable for 
any consequences resulting from the playing of a game of Softball or the misuse of the Official 
Rules.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (© 2017 & 2019 World Baseball Softball Confederation. All rights 

reserved.)  

 



 

Page | 3  

 
 

WBSC Softball Reformatted Slowpitch Casebook 
Issued: October 2019 

INTRODUCTION 

In becoming a well informed and accomplished umpire, one requires a sound knowledge of all 
officiating components, one of the more important components is an in depth understanding of the 
rules and how these rules are applied.  Your complete review of this Casebook will strengthen your 
knowledge of the rules and enhance personal confidence on and off the field. 
 
The primary focus and effort of this publication is to promote consistency in rule interpretations by 
describing situations and addressing their rulings as interpreted by WBSC Softball.  The Casebook will 
describe a situation (play), listing the proper interpretation and in several instances describe how to 
best handle the situation. 
 
WBSC Softball Rules are now written every four years (with this casebook including plays dealing with 
the 2018-21 Reformatted Rules), and will be updated periodically to coincide with rule amendments, 
new rules, new interpretations, or change in wording.  
 
WBSC Softball published their first Case Book in the mid-nineties. In subsequent versions additional 
plays have been added.  For those of you who were familiar with earlier versions you will notice that 
all the caseplays and associated rule reference have been renumbered to align with the rule numbering 
of the 2018-21 Reformatted Rules.  
 
Altogether over 600 plays are included in the five chapters, broken down by sections within the rule. 
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ABBREVIATION KEY 
 
B (N)  Batter 
R1  Runner Closest to home 
R2  Succeeding Runner 
R3  Runner on First Base (Bases Full) 
S (N)  Substitutes 
FLEX  Player playing defense for DP (Refer 3.2.5) 
DP  Designated Player (Refer 3.2.4) 
OPO  Offensive Player Only (Refer 3.2.4) 
TR  Temporary Runner (Refer 3.2.7) 
F (N)  Fielder by Position (Refer 3.2.2) 
 
Defensive Players:   Pitcher (F1), Catcher (F2), First Baseman (F3), Second Baseman (F4), Third 
Baseman (F5), Shortstop (F6), Left Fielder (F7), Left Center Fielder (F8), Right Fielder (F9), Right 
Center Fielder (F10). 
 
Whenever indicated, R1 stands for the first runner (which ever base they may be on), R2 stands for the 
second runner (when two runners are on base), and R3 the runner on first base when the bases are 
full.  Batter could be listed as B1, B2 or B3, etc.  Substitutes can also be liÓÔÅÄ ÁÓ 3ρȟ 3ς ÏÒ 3σȟ ÅÔÃȢ  Ȱ(ÏÍÅȱ 
ÔÅÁÍ ÉÓ ÌÉÓÔÅÄ ÁÓ Ȱ(ȱ ÁÎÄ Ȱ6ÉÓÉÔÉÎÇȱ ÔÅÁÍ ÁÓ Ȱ6Ȣȱ 
 
At the completion of each listed play, the rule reference(s) will be given like this: [4.1.2; 4.3.3 f); Effect 
4.3.1 to 4.3.7]. When referring to a rule for a specific anÓ×ÅÒȟ ÍÁËÅ ÓÕÒÅ ÙÏÕ ÁÌÓÏ ÒÅÁÄ ÁÎÙ Ȱ%&&%#4ȱ 
portion of the ruling. 
 
WBSC Softball hopes that this book will help you find the answers to your questions on how to rule in 
certain situations.  If you have any situation that requires a special ruling, send it to: 
  
Bob Stanton,  
Director of Umpires (WBSC Softball) 
   
 
E-mail to: bob.stanton@wbsc.org 
 
  

mailto:bob.stanton@wbsc.org
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1.  THE GAME 
  
1.1.1 Appeal Play 
  
Play 1 With R1 on 1B, B2 hits a triple.  R1 scores but fails to touch 2B.  The umpire observes this, 

but no appeal is made.  Since no appeal is made, does the play stand? 
 
Ruling:  Yes.  Runners are assumed to have touched a base once they pass the base.  The defense 

must make the appeal.  It is the responsibility of the umpire to only observe whether or not 
the runner touched the base and to make a decision only if appealed by the defense. [1.1.1; 
1.2.6] 

 
Play 2 A runner leaves a base before a caught fly ball is touched.  When should the runner be called 

out? 
 
Ruling:  The umpire must wait for an appeal from the defensive team. [1.1.1; 1.2.6] 
 
Play 3 R1 is on 3B and advances home on B2ȭÓ ÈÉÔȢ  2ρ ÍÉÓÓÅÓ ÈÏÍÅ ÐÌÁÔÅ ÁÎÄ ÅÎÔÅÒÓ ÔÈÅ ÄÕÇÏÕÔȢ  

F2 makes an appeal play and tags home plate. 
 
Ruling:  R1 is out.  They may not return to tag home plate after entering the dugout. [1.1.1; 1.2.6; 

5.10.3 a)xi and Effect] 
 
Play 4 R1 on 2B and R2 on 1B with none out, when B3 flies out to deep F9.  Both runners advance 

two bases, but R1 leaves before the ball is touched by F9.  F9 returns the ball to the infield 
where F4 receives it and makes a proper live ball appeal at 2B by touching the base.  R1 is 
called out.  R2 breaks for home as the appeal is being made and scores. 

 
Ruling:  The advance by R2 is legal, as the ball is live on the appeal and R1 is out for leaving the base 

too soon.  [1.1.1; 1.2.6; 5.10.3 a)vii] 
 
Play 5 R1 is at 2B when the batter hits a single.  R1 misses 3B on the way to the plate.  As the ball 

is thrown to the plate, R1 returns to 3B where they are obstructed, and R1 is tagged prior 
to returning 3B.  The umpire rules a dead ball and awards R1 third base on the obstruction 
call.  Can a successful appeal be made to the umpire on R1 missing 3B? 

 
Ruling:  Since the offensive runner R1 was obstructed by the defense, and R1 returned to 3B on the 

award prior to the appeal, the appeal cannot be honored. [1.1.1; 5.10.2 d)] 
 
Play 6 In the last half-inning, R1 scores the winning run.  The umpire sees that R1 did not touch 

3B when advancing to the plate, but no player indicates that it was seen.  After all defense 
players have left the fair territory, thus losing the opportunity to appeal, F5 comes back to 
3B and calls for the ball. 

 
Ruling:  It is too late for an appeal.  The inning ended when all defense players have left the fair 

territory, with no player indicating that an appeal was to be made.  The same principle 
applies to each half-inning, including the end of the game.  [1.1.1; 1.2.6 a)ii] 

 
Play 7 R1 slides into home plate but misses it.  F2 misses the tag.  What should the umpire do? 
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Ruling:  !ÆÔÅÒ Á ÂÒÉÅÆ ÈÅÓÉÔÁÔÉÏÎȟ ÔÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÓÈÏÕÌÄ ÍÁËÅ Á Ȱ3ÁÆÅȱ ÓÉÇÎÁÌȢ  )Æ ÔÈÅ ÃÁÔÃÈÅÒ ÔÈÅÎ ÔÁÇÓ ÔÈÅ 
runner, appealing that they missed home, this is a separate play, and R1 should then be 
ÃÁÌÌÅÄ Ȱ/ÕÔȢȱ [1.1.1; 5.10.3 a)x] 

 
Play 8 "ρ ÈÉÔÓ Á ÄÏÕÂÌÅȟ ÂÕÔ ÄÏÅÓ ÎÏÔ ÔÏÕÃÈ ρ"Ȣ  &ρ ÇÅÔÓ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÐÉÔÃÈÅÒȭÓ ÒÕÂÂÅÒ ÁÎÄ ÔÈÒÏ×Ó ÔÏ ρ" 

from the rubber.  The umpire rules an illegal pitch on the throw. 
 
Ruling:  The ball is dead. The appeal play on B1 is voided by the illegal pitch.  A ball is called on the 

batter. [1.1.1; 4.3.7; and Effect] 
 
Play 9 4ÈÅ #ÏÁÃÈ ÏÆ 4ÅÁÍ ! ÙÅÌÌÓ ÆÒÏÍ ÔÈÅ ÄÕÇÏÕÔ ÔÈÁÔ 4ÅÁÍ "ȭÓ ÐÒÅÖÉÏÕÓ ÂÁÔÔÅÒ ×ÁÓ batting out 

ÏÆ ÏÒÄÅÒȢ  4ÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÁÌÌÏ×Ó ÔÈÅ ÎÅØÔ ÂÁÔÔÅÒ ÔÏ ÅÎÔÅÒ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ ÂÏØ ÁÎÄ ÔÈÅ ÐÉÔÃÈÅÒ 
ÄÅÌÉÖÅÒÓ Á ÐÉÔÃÈ ÔÈÁÔ ÉÓ ÃÁÌÌÅÄ Á Ȱ"ÁÌÌȱȢ  4ÈÅ #ÏÁÃÈ ÏÆ 4ÅÁÍ ! ÎÏ× ÃÏÍÅÓ ÏÎÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÆÉÅÌÄ ÁÎÄ 
argues that the plate umpire should have dealt with the appeal of the batting out of order 
of the previous batter. 

 
Ruling:  The umpire would rule that as the Coach did not come onto the field to make the appeal of 

batting out of order before the next pitch, the appeal was not made in time and could not 
be considered. [1.1.1; 1.2.6 c)] 

 
1.1.4  Home and Visiting Team  
  
Play 1 The opposing teams get in an argument over which team should be the home team. 
 
Ruling:  The first or last at bat will be decided by a toss of a coin unless otherwise stated in the rules 

of the organization under which the schedule of game is being played. [1.1.4 a)] 
 
1.1.8  Pre-Game Meeting (no plays) 
 
1.1.10 Time   
 
Play 1 4ÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒ ÒÅÃÅÉÖÅÓ Á ÆÏÕÒÔÈ ÂÁÌÌ ÁÎÄ ÔÈÅÉÒ ÃÏÁÃÈ ÉÍÍÅÄÉÁÔÅÌÙ ÒÅÑÕÅÓÔÓ ȰÔÉÍÅȱȢ 
 
Ruling:  The umpire shall ignore the request and order the batter to go to 1B.  Once at first, a coach 

ÏÒ ÐÌÁÙÅÒ ÃÁÎ ÒÅÑÕÅÓÔ ȰÔÉÍÅȱ ÁÆÔÅÒ ÁÌÌ ÐÌÁÙ ÈÁÓ ÓÔÏpped and it should be granted. [1.1.10; 
3.6.7 g)] 

 
Play 2 Time is called by a plate or a base umpire to confer with the scorekeeper, player, or coach, 

or the park supervisor due to a fan.  An offensive coach runs onto the field to speak with a 
runner, or a defensive coach runs onto the field to speak with the pitcher.  The plate umpire 
ÔÈÅÎ ÃÁÌÌÓ ȰÐÌÁÙ ÂÁÌÌȱ ÁÎÄ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÁÃÈ ÉÍÍÅÄÉÁÔÅÌÙ ÌÅÁÖÅÓ ÔÈÅ ÆÉÅÌÄȢ 

 
Ruling:  If the coach immediately terminates the conference when the umpire is ready to play ball, 

the coach should not be charged with a conference ÄÕÒÉÎÇ ÁÎ ÏÆÆÉÃÉÁÌȭÓ ÔÉÍÅ ÏÕÔȢ ɍ1.1.10; 
4.2.2 f); 5.2 a)] 

 

1.2.1 Regulation Game  
 
Play 1 Is a game that is called for bad weather in the top of the 4th inning considered to be a 

regulation game? 
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Ruling:  No.  A regulation game must be five innings long, or four and a half innings, if the home 
team is leading in score. [1.2.1 c)] 

 
Play 2 The home team is losing by one run after five and a half complete innings.  The home team 

scores (a) one run, or (b) two runs, in the bottom of the 6th inning, but the game is called 
due to weather conditions, before the home team has completed its turn at bat.  Who wins 
the game? 

 
Ruling:  The game is a regulation game.  In (a) the game is a tie, and in (b) the home team is the 

winner.  The score does not revert back to the last complete inning, when the visitors were 
leading, because the home team has at least tied the score.  In (b) when the home team 
takes the lead in the bottom of the last inning, then the game is over because the visiting 
team no longer has an opportunity to bat or score runs. [1.2.1 c) and 1.2.1 d)] 

 
Play 3 The home team is leading by one run after five innings.  The visitors score two runs to go 

ahead, in the top half of the 6th inning.  With one out in the bottom half of the same inning, 
the umpire calls the game due to rain. 

 
Ruling:  This is a regulation game and the home team wins.  The score reverts back to the last 

complete inning because the home team has not completed its turn at bat in the sixth inning 
and is behind in the score. [1.2.1c) and 1.2.1a)] 

 
Play 4 After six (6) complete innings, the home team is ahead by one run 5-4.  The visitors fail to 

score in the top of the seventh and the umpire calls the game.  The manager of the home 
team wants to bat to help with the batting averages of their players. 

 
Ruling:  The umpire was correct in stopping the game.  The home team does not bat when they are 

ahead in the seventh inning.  They are the winner of the game. [1.2.1 a)] 
 
Play 5 In the last half of the 6th inning with the bases full, B7 hits a homerun to tie the score at 6-

6.  It then begins to rain heavily and the umpire calls the game. 
 
Ruling:  The game is ruled a regulation tie game 6-6, and shall be replayed from the start. [1.2.1 d) 

and 1.2.1 f)] 
 
1.2.2  Forfeited Game  
 
Play 1 Is a game that is declared a forfeit by the umpire in the 3rd inning classified as a regulation 

game? 
 
Ruling:  Yes.  Even though 5 innings have not been completed, any game declared a forfeit, is 

deemed to be regulation, at the time of the forfeit. [1.2.2; 1.2.1 e)] 
 
Play 2 The base umpire calls a runner out at first.  A spectator, upset with the call, then enters the 

field and physically attacks the umpire.  What should the umpire do? 
 
Ruling:  The plate umpire declares a forfeit in favor of the defensive team. [1.2.2; 1.2.1 e)]  
 
Play 3 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÒÅÆÕÓÅÓ ÔÏ ÂÅÇÉÎ Á ÇÁÍÅ ÁÔ ÔÈÅ ÓÃÈÅÄÕÌÅÄ ÃÏÍÍÅÎÃÅÍÅÎÔ ÔÉÍÅ ÁÓ ÔÈÅ ÐÉÔÃÈÅÒ Èas 

failed to arrive.  The team still has ten players.  What should the umpire do? 
 
Ruling:  The plate umpire declares a ÆÏÒÆÅÉÔ ÉÎ ÆÁÖÏÒ ÏÆ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ"ȱȢ ɍ1.2.2 b)] 
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Play 4 !ÆÔÅÒ Á ÓÕÓÐÅÎÓÉÏÎ ÏÆ ÐÌÁÙȟ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ"ȱȟ ÉÎ ÄÉÓÐÕÔÉÎÇ Á ÄÅÃÉÓÉÏÎ ÍÁÄÅ ÁÇÁÉÎÓÔ ÔÈÅÍȟ ÒÅÆÕÓÅs to 
ÒÅÓÕÍÅ ÐÌÁÙÉÎÇȢ  4ÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÃÁÌÌÓȟ Ȱ0ÌÁÙ "ÁÌÌȦȱ  !ÆÔÅÒ Ô×Ï ÍÉÎÕÔÅÓ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ"ȱ ÓÔÉÌÌ ÈÁÓ ÎÏÔ 
resumed playing.  What should happen? 

 
Ruling:  The plate umpire shall declare a ÆÏÒÆÅÉÔ ÉÎ ÆÁÖÏÒ ÏÆ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱȢ ɍ1.2.2 d)] 
 
Play 5 After four completed innings anÄ ×ÉÔÈ Á ÔÈÕÎÄÅÒÓÔÏÒÍ ÔÈÒÅÁÔÅÎÉÎÇȟ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÂÁÔÔÉÎÇ ÆÉÒÓÔȟ 

ÌÅÁÄÓ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ"ȱ φ-4.  In an attempt to complete their half of the 5th inning quickly, and in 
ÏÒÄÅÒ ÆÏÒ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ"ȱ ÔÏ ÂÁÔ ÔÈÅÉÒ υÔÈ ÉÎÎÉÎÇ ÆÏÒ Á ÒÅÇÕÌÁÔÉÏÎ ÇÁÍÅȟ ÔÈÅ Ȱ!ȱ ÃÏÁÃÈ ÉÎÓÔÒÕÃÔÓ ÔÈÅ 
batters to ÄÅÌÉÂÅÒÁÔÅÌÙ ÓÔÅÐ ÏÕÔ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ ÂÏØ ×ÈÅÎ ÔÈÅÙ ÈÉÔ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÌÌȢ  4ÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ 
overhears the instruction.  The first two batters step out of the box and both hit the first 
pitch. 

 
Ruling:  "ÅÃÁÕÓÅ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÈÁÓ ÅÍÐÌÏÙÅÄ ÔÁÃÔÉÃÓ ÄÅÓÉÇÎÅÄ ÔÏ ÄÅÌÉÂÅÒÁÔÅÌÙ ÈÁÓÔÅn the game, the plate 

ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÓÈÏÕÌÄ ÄÅÃÌÁÒÅ Á ÆÏÒÆÅÉÔ ÉÎ ÆÁÖÏÒ ÏÆ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ"ȱȢ [1.2.2 e)] 
 
Play 6 The pitcher for Team A continues to pitch illegally.  After calling numerous illegal pitches, 

the umpire advised the coach of Team A that the pitcher is removed from the pitching 
position and can no longer pitch. 

 
Ruling:  The action of the umpire was correct. [1.2.2 f)] 

 
1.2.3  Run Ahead Rule  
 
Play 1 After five ÃÏÍÐÌÅÔÅÄ ÉÎÎÉÎÇÓ ÏÆ ÐÌÁÙȟ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ"ȱ ÄÅÃÉÄÅÓ ÔÈÅÙ ÎÏ ÌÏÎÇÅÒ ×ÉÓÈ ÔÏ ÐÌÁÙȟ ÁÓ ÔÈÅÙ 

are being beaten 16-0.  Is this permissible? 
 
Ruling:  4ÈÉÓ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÎÏÔ ÂÅ Á ÆÏÒÆÅÉÔȟ ÁÓ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÈÁÓ ÁÌÒÅÁÄÙ ×ÏÎ ÔÈÅ game under the Run Ahead 

Rule. [1.2.3 a)] 
 
Play 2 After the middle of 5th inning the visitors are ahead 16-0.  Should the game be stopped? 
 
Ruling:  The game cannot be stopped in the middle of the inning unless the home team is ahead by 

15 runs. Yes, it can be called as one team is ahead by 15 after five innings. [1.2.3 a) and 1.2.3 
b)]  

 
Play 3 In the sixth inning the home team goes ahead 16 -1 and the umpire calls the game. 
 
Ruling:  The umpire was correct.  The rule reads, if a team is ahead by 20 runs after four innings, 15 

after five innings that team is declared the winner.  Fifteen (15) runs after six would be the 
same as 15 after five. [1.2.3 a)] 

 
1.2.4  Tie-Breaker  
  
Play 1 It is the 8th inning and the tie-breaker rule is in effect.  The wrong runner is placed on 

second to start the inning.  The correct batter comes to bat and takes one pitch.  The defense 
appeals the wrong runner is at 2B. 

 
Ruling:   There is no penalty if the runner is a player already in the line-up.  The proper runner 

(player scheduled to bat last in that inning) is placed at 2B.  Any play, while the improper 
runner is in the game, is legal.  [1.2.4 c)] 
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Note:  If it was not a player in the line-up, then it would be considered an unreported 
substitute and that penalty would be in effect after one pitch had been thrown. 

 
Play 2 In the top of the eighth, Wilson is listed to bat 10ÔÈ ÆÏÒ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÁÎÄ ×ÉÌÌ ÂÅ ÔÈÅ ÒÕÎÎÅÒ ÔÏ 

start at 2B.  Their coach notifies the plate umpire that Jones will run in place of Wilson.  Is 
this legal? 

 
Ruling:  Yes.  The tie-break runner may be substituted with a legal substitute at any time.  [1.2.4 b)] 
 
1.2.5  Scoring of Runs 
  
Play 1 The bases are full with one out.  The batter hits a fly ball to F8 who catches the ball for out 

number two.  The runners at 2nd and 3rd leave their bases before the catch.  The defense 
makes a proper appeal at (a) third only, (b) second only, or (c) second and third. 

 
Ruling:  (a) R1 is the third out and no runs count.  (b) R2 is the third out and the run by R1 counts 

if the appeal is made after R1 scores. This is a time play. In (c) R1 and R2 are the third and 
fourth outs and no runs count.  A defensive team can have four outs in order to remove a 
run. [1.2.5 c); 1.2.5 c)iv; 1.2.5 d)] 

 
Play 2 R1 at third and R2 at 1B with one out.  B5 hits a pitched ball for a double, but missed first 

and R2 missed second when advancing to third, as R1 scores.  The defense appeals (a) the 
BR missing first and then R2 for missing 2B or (b) R2 for missing 2B and then the BR 
ÍÉÓÓÉÎÇ ρ" ÆÏÒ ÔÈÅ ÔÈÉÒÄ ÏÕÔȢ  $ÏÅÓ 2ρȭÓ ÒÕÎ ÃÏÕÎÔȩ 

 
Ruling:  In (a) the force at 2B is removed when they appealed first on the batter-runner and the run 

would count.  In (b) when the defense appealed 2B first and then 1B, both outs are force 
outs and the run would not count. [1.2.5 c)i and 1.2.5 c)ii] 

 
Play 3 Bases are full with two out.  B6 hits a home run, but fails to touch (a) third, (b) second, or 

(c) first.  A legal appeal is made in each case.  How many runs score? 
 
Ruling:  In both (a) and (b) three (3) runs score as they all scored before the third out (1.2.5 a).  In 

(c), no runs score because the third out of the inning is the result of B6 being called out 
before legally touching first.  [1.2.5 c)i; 5.9 a); and Effect] 

 
Play 4 R1 on 3B and R2 on 1B with two out.  B6 hits a ground ball to F4 who attempts to tag R2, 

but misses the tag as R1 scores.  Eventually R2 is put out between first and second.  Does 
the run count? 

 
Ruling:  No.  The third out is a force out on R2 and no runs can score on a force out. [1.2.5 c)ii; 5.10.3 

a)iii ] 
 
Play 5 R1 on 3B and R2 on 1B with one out.  B4 hits a line drive to the short stop who throws to 

1B to double up R2 who had left base on the hit.  R1 tags up and scores when the ball is 
overthrown out of play.  R2 fails to tag up and goes directly to 3B on a two base award for 
the overthrow.  When the ball is returned to the infield, the defense appeals that R2 did not 
tag up and the umpire calls R2 out. 

 
Ruling:   4ÈÅ ÒÕÎ ÓÃÏÒÅÓ ÁÓ ÔÈÉÓ ÉÓ Á ȰÔÉÍÅ ÐÌÁÙȱ ÁÎÄ ÎÏÔ Á ÆÏÒÃÅ ÏÕÔȢ  "τ ×ÁÓ ÏÕÔ ×ÈÅÎ ÔÈÅ ÓÈortstop 

caught the line drive. [1.2.5 a); 5.1.19] 
 



 

Page | 11  

 
 

WBSC Softball Reformatted Slowpitch Casebook 
Issued: October 2019 

Play 6 R1 on 3B and R2 on 1B with two outs, when B4 hits a ground ball to the second baseman.  
The defensive player chases R2 back to 1B as R1 scores.  R2 is tagged while (a) off 1B or (b) 
standing on 1B. 

 
Ruling:  In both cases (a) and (b) R2 is out as they are forced to leave the base due to the batter 

becoming a base runner. The run does not score. [1.2.5 c)ii; 5.10.3 a)iii] 
 
Play 7 R1 on 3B, R2 on 2B, and R3 on 1B with no outs.  B5 hits into a double play forcing both R3 

and B5.  R2 missed 3B as both R1 and R2 scored.  The defense appeals R2 missing 3B.  Does 
2ρȭÓ ÒÕÎ ÃÏÕÎÔȩ 

 
Ruling:  Yes, when R3 and B5 were called out, this removed the force on R2 and the appeal is now a 

time play, tÈÅÒÅÆÏÒÅ 2ρȭÓ ÒÕÎ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÃÏÕÎÔȢ ɍ1.2.5 a)] 
 
Play 8 In the last half of the 7th inning with the score tied and two out, R1 is on third, R2 on second, 

and R3 on first.  B6 is walked to force home R1.  B6, assuming the game is over fails to go 
to first and returns to the dugout. 

 
Ruling:  B6 is out automatically when they enter the dugout.  The run does not count as the third 

out was made before B6 legally touched 1B. [1.2.5 c)i] 
 
Play 9 R1 on 3B and R2 on 1B, 2 out. B5 hits safely to deep CF. R1 scores on the hit and R2 advances 

to 3B, but in doing so misses 2B. B5 remains at 1B. The ball is returned to 2B were the 
defense make a legal appeal that R2 had missed 2B. The appeal is upheld and R2 becomes 
the 3rd out. Does the run score? 

 
Ruling: No ɀ At the time of the appeal R2 was forced to 2B by a succeeding runner (B5) who is not 

yet out so the third out is a force out. [1.2.5 c)ii; 1.2.6 d)i; 5.1.20] 
 
Play 10 R1 on 3B, R2 on 2B, R3 on 1B, 2 out. B6 hits safely to deep RF, both R1 & R2 score on the 

hit but in doing so R2 misses 3B as R3 advances to and remains 3B. B6, after rounding 1B 
is subsequently tagged out for the third out. The defense makes a legal appeal that R2 
missed 3B in an attempt to remove the run of R1. The appeal is upheld and R2 becomes the 
4th out. Does the run of R1 count? 

 
Ruling: Yes - Although it is legal to make a 4th out appeal to remove a run, in this instance the run 

of R1 would count. At the time of the appeal, the force situation that applied at the time of 
the infraction by R2 (because B6 became a batter-runner) was removed when B6 was  
ÔÁÇÇÅÄ ÆÏÒ ÔÈÅ σÒÄ ÏÕÔȢ 4ÈÅÒÅÆÏÒÅȟ ÔÈÅ ÁÐÐÅÁÌ ÂÅÃÁÍÅ Á Ȱ4ÉÍÅ 0ÌÁÙȱ ×ÉÔÈ R1 scoring before 
the appeal. [1.2.5 c)ii; 1.2.5 a); 1.2.5 d); 1.2.6 d)i; 5.1.20] 

 
Play 11 R1 on 3B, R2 on 2B, R3 on 1B, 2 out.  B6 hits safely to deep LF, both R1 & R2 score on the 

hit. B6 advances to 2B as R3 is tagged at home for the third out. In doing so:  a) R1 fails to 
touch home plate or b) R2 fails to touch home plate. 

 
In both a) and b) the defense make a legal appeal in an attempt to remove the runs. In a) 
the appeal is upheld and R1 becomes the 4th out; in b) the appeal is upheld and R2 becomes 
the 4th out. Do any runs score? 

 
Ruling: In a) No runs score. R1 is out on appeal. The run of R2 does not count in this case as a run 

may not score if the additional out (4th) was a preceding runner (R1). [1.2.5 c)ii; 1.2.5 c)iv; 
1.2.5 a);1.2.5 d); 1.2.6 d)i); 5.1.20] 
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In b) R1 scores. Although R2 is out on appeal, at the time of R2 missing home plate a force 
existed by virtue of B6 becoming the B/R, but at the time of the appeal the force no longer 
existed due to a succeeding forced runner (R3) being tagged out beyond the base to which 
they were forced. ThÉÓ ÍÁÄÅ ÔÈÅ ÁÐÐÅÁÌ ÐÌÁÙ Á Ȱ4ÉÍÅ 0ÌÁÙȱ ×ÉÔÈ 2ρ ÈÁÖÉÎÇ ÓÃÏÒÅÄ ÂÅÆÏÒÅ 
the appeal. [1.2.5 a); 1.2.5 d); 1.2.6 d)i); 5.1.20] 

 
Play 12 R1 on 3B, R2 on 2B, R3 on 1B, 1 out. B5 hits safely to deep LF as all runners score on the hit 

but in doing so R3 misses 2B. F7, in an attempt to make an out at home plate throws wildly, 
B5 rounds 3B and tries to make it home. F2 recovers the ball and tags B5 for the 2nd out. 
The defense makes a legal appeal that R3 missed 2B for the 3rd out. How many runs score? 

 
Ruling: R1 and R2 score. As B5 was put out beyond 1B for the (2nd out) this broke the force and 

ÔÈÅ ÁÐÐÅÁÌ ÏÎ 2σ ÆÏÒ ÍÉÓÓÉÎÇ ς" ɉÔÈÅ σÒÄ ÏÕÔɊ ÂÅÃÁÍÅ Á Ȱ4ÉÍÅ 0ÌÁÙȱ ×ÉÔÈ ÂÏÔÈ 2ρ ÁÎÄ 2ς 
scoring before the 3rd out was made. [1.2.5 a); 1.2.5 d); 1.2.6 d)i; 5.1.20] 

 
Play 13 R1 on 3B, R2 on 2B, R3 on 1B, 1 out. B5 hits a Home Run, R2 misses 3B and R3 misses 2B. 

The defense makes a legal appeal that R2 missed 3B then appeal that R3 missed 2B. Both 
appeals are upheld for the 2nd and 3rd outs. How many runs score? 

 
Ruling: No run scores. The appeals were made in the correct order, each one a force play.  
 

Note:  Had the defense appealed R3 missing 2B first then appealed R2 missing 3B this will 
break the force play and created a "Time Play" for the 3rd out. In this case R1's run 
will count. 

 
B4 does not score in either case as B4 was a succeeding runner who cannot score 
when a preceding runner is the third or additional out of the half inning. [1.2.5 c)ii; 
1.2.6 d)i; 5.1.20] 

 
Play 14 R1 on 3B, R2 on 2B, R3 on 1B, 2 out. B6 hits a Home Run, R3 misses 3B and 2B. The defense 

makes a legal dead ball appeal for R3 missing 3B. The administrating umpire upholds the 
appeal and calls R3 out for the 3rd out and rules that both R1 and R2 runs scores. The 
defense realizing R3 missed 2B now make an additional out appeal to remove R2 and R3's 
runs. 

 
Ruling: As R3 has already been declared the 3rd out for missing 3B an additional out appeal on R3 

for missing 2B is not a valid appeal as R3 has already been declared out in this play and 
can't be given out a second time.  [1.2.5 c)iv; 1.2.6 d)i; 5.1.20] 

 
Note:  Had R3 been appealed for missing 2B first this would have been a force out and no 

runs would score. 
 
Play 15 R1 on 3B, R2 on 2B, R3 on 1B, 2 out. B6 hits to deep RF. B6 misses 1B and continues toward 

3B were they are tagged for the 3rd out. R1, R2 and R3 all score before B6 is tagged out.  
The defense now make an additional out appeal for B6 missing 1B to remove the runs. Do 
the runs score? 

 
Ruling: Yes. B6 has already been declared the 3rd out on the tag at 3B an additional out appeal on 

B6 for missing 1B is not a valid appeal as B6 has already been declared out in this play and 
can't be given out a second time.  [1.2.5 c)iv; 1.2.6 d)i; 5.1.20] 

 

1.2.6 Appeal Plays (no plays) 
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1.2.7  Winner of Game 
  
Play 1 The visiting team forfeits the game because they have less than the required minimum 

number of players (a) at the start of the game, or (B) when they are ahead 6-3 in the 6th 
inning.   What is the score? 

 
Ruling:  In both (a) and (b), the home team wins 7-0, one run for each inning. [1.2.7 c)] 
 
Play 2 At the end of six innings the score is 5-υȢ  )Î ÔÈÅ ÔÏÐ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ χÔÈȟ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÓÃÏÒÅÓ Ô×Ï ÒÕÎÓ 

ÁÎÄ ÔÈÅ ÒÁÉÎÓ ÃÏÍÅ ÐÏÕÒÉÎÇ ÄÏ×ÎȢ  4ÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÃÁÌÌÓ ÔÈÅ ÇÁÍÅȢ  4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÃÏÍÐÌÁÉÎÓ 
knowing the game will revert back to the last full inning and would have to be replayed 
from the start.  The game is called. 

 
Ruling:  Although the umpire was correct in calling the game if the field is not playable, the manager 

ÏÆ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÈÁÓ Á ÌÅÇÉÔÉÍÁÔÅ ÂÅÅÆ ÔÏ ×ÁÉÔ Á ÐÅÒÉÏÄ ÏÆ time to see if the game can be 
continued.  If the game is called and does revert back to the last full inning, it would end in 
a regulation tie, and have to be replayed from the start. [1.2.1 f); 1.2.7 b)] 

 
1.2.8  Grounds for a Protest  
  
Play 1 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ Ìodges a protest on whether or not a run should count, when the third out is a 

force out. 
 
Ruling:  The protest is valid, as it concerns a rule interpretation. [1.2.8 a)i] 
 
Play 2 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÌÏÄÇÅÓ Á ÐÒÏÔÅÓÔ ×ÉÔÈ ÔÈÅ ÐÌÁÔÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÁÂÏÕÔ Á ÐÌÁÙÅÒ ÐÌÁÙÉÎÇ ÆÏÒ ÔÈe other team, 

who is not on their roster.  The umpire ignores their protest and tells them to check with 
the league office. 

 
Ruling:  This is the correct procedure.  The umpire does not have rosters.  This is handled by the 

league or tournament and if Team Ȱ"ȱ ÉÓ ÉÎ ÅÒÒÏÒȟ ÔÈÅ ÐÅÎÁÌÔÙ ÉÓ ÅÎÆÏÒÃÅÄ ÂÙ ÔÈÅ league or 
tournament director. [1.2.8 c)] 

 
Play 3 "φ ÉÓ ÓÕÐÐÏÓÅÄ ÔÏ ÂÁÔ ÆÏÒ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÓÉØÔÈ ×ÉÔÈ Ô×Ï ÏÕÔÓȟ ÂÕÔ "ω ÃÏÍÅÓ ÔÏ ÂÁÔ ÁÎÄ 

ÇÒÏÕÎÄÓ ÏÕÔȢ  4ÅÁÍ Ȱ"ȱ ÆÉÌÅÓ Á ÐÒÏÔÅÓÔ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ χÔÈ ÉÎÎÉÎÇ ×ÈÅÎ "ρ ÃÏÍÅÓ to bat, stating B7 
should be the batter. 

 
Ruling:  The protest and appeal is invalid, as it had to be filed while at least one fielder had not left 

fair territory  at the end of the last inning.  B1 is the legal batter. [1.2.8 b); Effect 5.4.1] 
 
1.2.10  Invalid Protests  
   
Play 1 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÌÏÄÇÅÓ Á ÐÒÏÔÅÓÔ ÏÎ ɉÁɊ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÓÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅȭÓ ÃÁÌÌ ÁÔ ρ" ÏÒ ɉÂɊ ×ÈÅÔÈÅÒ Á ÂÁÔÔÅÄ ÂÁÌÌ ÉÓ 

fair or foul. 
 
Ruling:  Both protests are denied, as they concÅÒÎ ÏÎÌÙ ÁÎ ÕÍÐÉÒÅȭÓ ÊÕÄÇÍÅÎÔȢ ɍ1.2.10 a); 1.2.10 b)] 
 
Play 2 R1 on 1B when B2 hits the ball to F4 who is in the base path.  R1 runs in front of F4 and F4 

bobbles the ball.  No interference is called, but the defense wants it called and goes to 
another umpire to file a protest. 

 
Ruling:  This is a judgment call and cannot be protested. [1.2.10 i)] 
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1.2.11  Giving Notice of a Protest  (no plays) 
  

1.2.14  Result of Protest  
  
Play 1 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÐÒÏÔÅÓÔÓ Á ÍÉÓÉÎÔÅÒÐÒÅÔÁÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ Á ÒÕÌÅ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÔÈÉÒÄ ÉÎÎÉÎÇȢ  4ÈÅÙ ÇÏ ÏÎ ÔÏ ×ÉÎ ÔÈÅ 

game but, submit the protest to the committee anyway. 
 
Ruling:  A team may not protest a game which it has won.  Therefore, the protest is disallowed and 

the game score stands as played. [1.2.14 a)] 
 
Play 2 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÐÒÏÔÅÓÔÓ Á ÍÉÓÉÎÔÅÒÐÒÅÔÁÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ Á ÒÕÌÅ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÔÈÉÒÄ ÉÎÎÉÎÇȢ  4ÈÅ ÐÒÏÔÅÓÔ ÉÓ ÕÐÈÅÌÄȢ 
 
Ruling:  The game is replayed from the point at which the incorrect decision was made, with the 

decision reversed. [1.2.14 b)] 
 
Play 3 $ÕÒÉÎÇ Á ÔÏÕÒÎÁÍÅÎÔ ÇÁÍÅȟ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ"ȱ ÐÒÏÔÅÓÔÓ ÔÈÅ ÕÓÅ ÏÆ ÁÎ ÉÎÅÌÉÇÉÂÌÅ ÍÅÍÂÅÒ ÏÆ 4ÅÁÍ Ȱ!Ȣȱ  

They were found to be ineligible.  After this ruling, the umpires allow a substitute for the 
player and continue the game. 

 
Ruling:  Appeals and protests during a tournament must be handled immediately and before the 

next pitch.  This was in error, as a valid ineligibility protest will cause a forfeit of the game 
in question. [1.2.14 c)] 
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2.  PLAYING FIELD AND EQUIPMENT 
  

2.1.1  Altered Bat  
  
Play 1 A batter that has hit safely is discovered to be using a bat with a knob painted with team 

colors. 
 
Ruling:  This is a legal bat.  Painting either end of the bat for identification is not considered an 

altered bat.  If the barrel of the bat was painted, this would be altered. [2.1.1] 
 
Play 2 The batter hits a double with an aluminum bat, containing a wooden handle. 
 
Ruling:  The ball is dead, batter is out, and base runners may not advance.  The batter is ejected for 

using an altered bat. [2.1.1; 5.4.4 b)iii ] 
 
Play 3 The home team keeps their aluminum bat in a container of ice in the dugout. 
 
Ruling:  The umpire should instruct the team to remove the bats from the ice-filled container or 

prohibit use of the bat(s) in the game. [2.1.1; 5.4.4 b)iii] 
 
Play 4 B1 hits a double using a baseball bat that has been reduced in diameter to softball size. 
 
Ruling:  This is an altered bat.  B1 is out, the ball is dead and runners may not advance.  B1 is ejected 

from the game for using an altered bat. [2.1.1; 5.4.4 b)iii ] 
 
Play 5 A batter hits the ball to LCF with an aluminum bat.  When the batter discarded the bat, it 

×ÁÓ ÓÅÅÎ ÂÙ ÔÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÁÎÄ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ ÎÁÍÅ ×ÁÓ ÅÎÇÒÁÖÅd on the barrel end of the bat. 
 
Ruling:  The umpire should eject the player from the game and the bat removed from the field of 

play as it is considered an altered bat.  Engraved markings can be on the knob of the bat, 
but not on the barrel end, unless the marking was done with a laser process on the barrel 
end. This would leave a smooth finish and not cut the ball.  [2.1.1; 5.4.4 b)iii] 

 
Play 6 Can a bat with a new coat of paint, identical to the original, be used? 
 
Ruling:  No.  To repaint the bat is to alter the bat.  An identifying mark of team colors may be added 

to the top of knob end.  The barrel end may not be sandpapered or painted. [2.1.1] 
 
Play 7 ! ÂÁÔÔÅÒ ÅÎÔÅÒÓ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ ÂÏØ ×ÉÔÈ Á ÓÏÆÔÂÁÌÌ ÂÁÔ ×ÉÔÈ Á ÃÏÎÅ-shaped handle, eliminating 

the ¼-inch knob. 
 
Ruling:  The batter is declared out and ejected from the game for using an altered bat. [2.1.1; 5.4.4 

b)iii ] 
 

2.1.3  "ÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ "ÏØ 
  
Play 1 The pitcher takes their position on the rubber while the batter B1 starts with a foot outside 

the lines of tÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ ÂÏØ ÏÒ ÔÏÕÃÈÉÎÇ ÈÏÍÅ ÐÌÁÔÅȢ 
 
Ruling:  If the pitch has not started, the umpire should hold up play and put the batter into the box.  

)Î ÃÁÓÅÓ ×ÈÅÒÅ ÔÈÅÒÅ ÁÒÅ ÎÏ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ ÂÏØ ÌÉÎÅÓ ÅÖÉÄÅÎÔȟ ÇÏÏÄ ÊÕÄÇÍÅÎÔ ÍÕÓÔ ÂÅ ÕÓÅÄ ÁÎÄ ÔÈÅ 
benefit of any doubt must go to the batter. [2.1.3; 5.4.2 d); 5.4.4 b)iv; 3.6.7c)] 
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2.1.4  Catcher's Box (no plays) 
  

2.1.8  Helmet  
  
Play 1 F2 wears a helmet that looks like a skull cap with no ear flaps.  Is this legal? 
 
Ruling:  Yes.  [2.1.8 b)] 
 
Play 2 A defensive player is wearing a helmet with no ear flaps.  Is this legal? 
 
Ruling:  Yes.  [2.1.8 b)] 
 
Play 3 Before the game, an umpire inspecting bats and helmets finds two helmets, each with 

cracks on the side.  The umpire removes both from the game. 
 
Ruling:  These helmets are illegal and should not be used for safety reasons. [2.1.8] 
 

2.1.9 Illegal Bat   
 
Play 1 "ρ ÅÎÔÅÒÓ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ ÂÏØ ×ÉÔÈ Á ÍÅÔÁÌ ÂÁÔȢ  4ÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÎÏÔÉÃÅÓ ÔÈÁÔ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔ ÈÁÓ Á ÌÁÒÇÅ ÆÌÁÔ 

area on the barrel end. 
 
Ruling:  This is an illegal bat.  B1 should be called out and the ball is dead. [2.1.9; 2.3.1; Appendix 

2A.6] 
 

2.1.12  Official Equipment   
 
Play 1 R1 on 3B.  B8 hits a slow roller to the shortstop who throws to F2 in an attempt to retire 

2ρȢ  4ÈÅ ÔÈÒÏ× ÉÓ ÌÏ× ÁÎÄ ÈÉÔÓ "ψȭÓ ÂÁÔȟ ×ÈÉÃÈ ÉÓ ÌÙÉÎÇ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ground in front of home plate.  
The ball ricochets back to the fence after R1 crosses the plate.  B8 then advances to 2B. 

 
Ruling:  R1 is safe at home and the ball is alive. The discarded bat is considered official equipment.  

Nobody is out. [2.1.12] 
 
Play 2 F9 leaves their glove on the field when running to the dugout. 
 
Ruling:  Have the team retrieve the glove and place it in the dugout. [2.1.12] 
 
Play 3 "R1 on 2B. 1 out. B3 hits a ball to the outfield. The on-ÄÅÃË ÂÁÔÔÅÒ ÐÉÃËÓ ÕÐ "σȭÓ ÂÁÔ ÂÕÔ 

realizes tÈÁÔ ÔÈÅ ÐÌÁÙ ×ÉÌÌ ÇÏ ÈÏÍÅ ÓÏ ÔÈÅÙ ÄÒÏÐ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔȢ  &χȭÓ ÔÈÒÏ× ÔÏ ÈÏÍÅ ÈÉÔÓ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔ 
that is now in front of home plate as R1 is rounding 3B.  The ball bounces away from the  
ÃÁÔÃÈÅÒ ÁÎÄ 2ρ ÅÁÓÉÌÙ ÓÃÏÒÅÓȢ  4ÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÒÕÌÅÓ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÌÌ ÂÌÏÃËÅÄ ÁÎÄ ÃÁÌÌÓ Ȱ$ÅÁÄ "ÁÌÌȱȢ 2ρ 
returns to 3B and the BR is awarded 1B or returned to 1B if they had already reached 1B 
but not 2B when the ball became dead. 

 
Ruling:  The umpire is correct [5.10.4 p)]. If the umpire judged there was an obvious play on R1 had 

the ball not been blocked, then the ball would be ruled dead and R1 called out.  B3 would 
be awarded 1B or returned to 1B depending on where they were at the time the ball became 
blocked. [5.10.3 c)xii] 
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Play 4 R1 at 2nd. The batter hits a pitched ball for a single. R1 attempts ÔÏ ÓÃÏÒÅȢ 4ÈÅ ÏÕÔÆÉÅÌÄÅÒȭÓ 
thrown ball makes contact with the discarded bat, which was tossed to the right of home 
plate. The catcher (a) has a play on R1, or (b) does not have a play on R1. 

  
Ruling:  The ball is live in both (a) and (b). No interference ÁÎÄ ÎÏ ÏÕÔȢ 4ÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓȭ ÄÉÓÃÁÒÄÅÄ ÂÁÔ 

cannot cause interference unless the bat was intentionally tossed at the ball. [2.1.12] 
 
2.1.14  Playing Field  
  
Play 1 F2 steps behind the backstop and catches a foul ball. 
 
Ruling:  The area behind the backstop is not part of the playing field so F2 could not legally play the 

ball [2.1.14; 2.2.1 d)] 
 
Play 2 A defensive player standing in playable territory (a) reaches across an out-of-play line and 

catches a fly ball, and (b) accidentally falls into the out-of-play area. 
 
Ruling:  A legal catch as long as control is maintained in both (a) and (b).  In (b) by falling into the 

out-of-play area this is considered accidentally carrying the ball out-of-play, and all runners 
are advanced one base. [2.1.14; 2.2.1 d); 5.1.9 c); 5.11 a)ii 3] 

 
2.2.2  Official Diamond  
  
Play 1 The umpire detects that first, second, or third base is no longer pegged in the ground. 
 
Ruling:  4ÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÓÈÏÕÌÄ ÄÅÃÌÁÒÅ ȰÔÉÍÅȱ ÁÓ ÓÏÏÎ ÁÓ ÁÌÌ ÐÌÁÙ ÈÁÓ ÃÅÁÓÅÄ ÁÎÄ ÏÒÄÅÒ ÉÍÍÅÄÉÁÔÅ ÒÅÐÁÉÒ 

or replacement of the defective equipment. [2.2.2 a); Appendix 1F Bases] 
 

2.2.3  Ground or Special Rules 
  
Play 1 After a game has started a lot of spectators overflow to the vicinity of a foul line and 

interfere with the usual overthrow conditions. 
 
Ruling:  The plate umpire should call both coaches and/or captains together and state special 

ground rules that may be necessary to cover such conditions. [2.2.3] 
 
2.3.1  Official Bat  
  
Play 1 B4 hits a single with a bat that is 88cm (35 inches) long. 
 
Ruling:  This is an illegal bat and it should be removed from the game.  B4 is called out for an illegally 

batted ball and the ball is dead. [2.3.1; Appendix 2A 7); 2.1.9; 5.4.4 b)iii] 
 
Play 2 4ÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒ ÅÎÔÅÒÓ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ ÂÏØ ×ÉÔÈ ɉÁɊ Á ÌÁÙÅÒ ÏÆ ÔÁÐÅ ÏÖÅÒ ÔÈÅ ÍÁÎÕÆÁÃÔÕÒÅÒȭÓ ÇÒip; (b) 

ÅØÃÅÓÓÉÖÅ ÔÁÐÅ ×ÒÁÐÐÅÄ ÁÔ ÔÈÅ ËÎÏÂȠ ɉÃɊ ÔÈÅ ÍÁÎÕÆÁÃÔÕÒÅÒȭÓ ÇÒÉÐ ÒÅÍÏÖÅÄ ÁÎÄ Ô×Ï ÌÁÙÅÒÓ 
of tape wrapped around the bat where the grip was previously located. 

 
Ruling:  (a) and (c) are legal.  You are permitted to repair a manufactured grip with one layer of tape 

or replace the manufactured grip with not more than two layers of tape; (b) this is an 
altered bat as the knob must meet specification [2.3.1; Appendix 2A.11) and 4); 2.1.1] 
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Play 3 Prior to a game, the umpire sees a team member using a metal bat to hammer a base 
fastener into the ground.  The umpire checks the bat and finds it now has some rough and 
sharp burrs resulting from the hammering.  What should they do? 

 
Ruling:  As the bat is now considered to present a hazard to the players, and/or could cut up the 

game balls, it should be declared illegal and removed from the game. [2.3.1; Appendix 2A 9)] 
 
Play 4 A metal bat with a proper rubber sleeve-type grip is legal.  Is it legal to put one layer of tape 

on that grip? 
 
Ruling:  Yes, provided that smooth plastic type tape is not used. [2.3.1; Appendix 2A 11)] 
 
Play 5 Can a bat have a rubber plug in the barrel end? 
 
Ruling:  Yes, provided the bat is metal and not a one-piece construction with the barrel end closed.  

If the barrel end is not closed it shall have a rubber or vinyl plastic insert firmly secured at 
the large end of the bat.  [2.3.1; Appendix 2A 12)] 

 
2.3.2  Warm Up Bats 
  
Play 1 The on-deck batter carries three (3) legal bats into the on-deck circle and uses all three to 

warm up at the same time.  Is this permissible? 
 
Ruling:  No.  Only two (2) legal bats are permitted and both must be held by the on-deck batter. 

[2.3.2; 5.3 c)iii] 
 
Play 2 The on- deck batter appears in the on-deck circle and attempts to use a bat that has a metal 

or plastic donut (a) loosely, or (b) mechanically fastened to the thick end of the bat. 
 
Ruling:  Both (a) and (b) are illegal.  They should not be allowed for use. [2.3.2; 5.3 c)iii] 
 
Play 3 Prior to the start of the game while checking bats, an umpire locates an illegal warm-up bat 

in the dugout.  The bat is removed from the game and the manager notified  
accordingly.  During the game, the umpire notices that a player of the team is using the 
illegal warm-up bat that was previously removed. 

 
Ruling:  The player using the bat is ejected from the game. [2.3.2; Effect 5.3 c)iii ] 
 

2.4.1  Gloves and Mitts  
  
Play 1 Who may wear a mitt? 
 
Ruling:  Only the catcher and the first baseman. [2.4.1] 
 
Play 2 The shortstop is using a white glove and catches a yellow-optic yellow fly ball. 
 
Ruling:  Legal.  Gloves worn by any player, other than the pitcher, may be any combination of 

colours including the colour of the ball. [2.4.1 c)] 
 
Play 3 When F6 takes the field at the start of the game, it is noticed that F6 has a glove with a white 

circle on the outside that resembles a ball. 
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Ruling:  Illegal. Gloves with white, gray, or yellow optic circles on the outside, giving the appearance 
of a ball, are illegal for all players. [2.4.1 d)] 

 
Play 4 In the top of the first inning, in a game using a yellow optic ball, all the players on Team A 

including the pitcher enter the field on defense wearing gloves with lacing that is the colour 
of optic yellow. 

  
Ruling:   The umpire correctly requires the pitcher to wear a different glove that does not have the 

colour of the ball on it. [2.4.1 c)] 
 
Play 5 The pitcher enters the field wearing a white glove.  The colour of the ball is optic yellow. 
 
Ruling:  The glove is legal to use [2.4.1 c)] 
 

2.4.2  Shoes  
 
Play 1 During the course of the game, a player develops a blister on their foot.  They remove their 

shoes and continues to play bare-footed. 
 
Ruling:  This is illegal.  Shoes must be worn by all players at all times. [2.4.2 a)] 
 
Play 2 Four players on a team have smooth soled shoes while the remainder have shoes with 

molded nylon cleats.  Is this allowed? 
 
Ruling:  Yes. [2.4.2 b) and d)] 
 
2.4.3  Protective Equipment  (no plays) 
  

2.5.1  Player Uniforms  
  
Play 1 Do all male players have to wear caps? 
 
Ruling:  Yes, and they must be worn properly. However, if a defensive player wants to wear a 

helmet, they can do so as long as it is the same colour as the other caps. [2.5.1 a) i and iii] 
 
Play 2 Jones was listed in the scorebook with number 5.  When they came to bat in the first inning 

they were wearing #15. 
 
Ruling:  There is no penalty. The umpire should stop the game, correct the number, and continue 

playing. [2.5.1 d); 3.2.1 e)] 
 
Play 3 On defense, a female team has three players wearing visors, three players wearing caps, 

three wearing a headband, and one wearing a helmet. 
 
Ruling:  Legal, as long all are similar in colour to the team uniform, and those alike are of the same 

colour and style (headbands, visors, caps). [2.5.1 a)ii] 
 
Play 4 Three female players are wearing plastic visors.  Are they legal? 
 
Ruling:  No.  Plastic or hard visors are not allowed for safety reason. [2.5.1 a)ii] 
 
Play 5 A coach requests permission for an injured player, who has a plaster cast on an arm, to play 

in order to prevent a forfeit.  Should the umpire agree to this request? 
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Ruling:  No.  If the cast cannot be removed, the player may not participate in the game other than as 

a coach. [2.5.1 f)] 
 
Play 6 Jones takes the field wearing a knee brace that is padded.  Two innings later the umpire 

notices that part of the metal hinge has worn through the padding. 
 
Ruling:  Jones must re-pad the hinge before they can continue to play. [2.5.1 f)] 
 
Play 7 A player is discovered wearing (a) a neck chain under their playing uniform; or (b) looped 

ear rings which are taped to the ear lobe. 
 
Ruling:  This is allowed provided the umpire does not judge the adornments to be distracting.  If 

judged to be distracting the umpire can ask that the item be removed or covered.  [2.5.1 g)] 
 
Play 8 A player is discovered wearing (a) a medical alert necklace under their playing uniform or 

(b) a medical alert bracelet on their wrist. 
 
Ruling:  Legal.  Medical alert bracelets or necklaces if judged to be distracting are to be taped but in 

such a manner so that all medical information is visible. [2.5.1 g)] 
 
Play 9 In the top of the 1st inning, the umpire notices that 6 of the players of Team A who are on 

defense are wearing red, long sleeved undershirts, 2 players are not wearing undershirts 
and one player is wearing blue short sleeved undershirt.  The umpire advised the coach of 
Team A that the player wearing the blue short sleeved undershirt must remove it.  The  
umpire advises the coach that the player may either wear a red long sleeved undershirt or 
no undershirt. 

 
Ruling:  This action is correct [2.5.1 b)i] 
 
2.6  Coaches Uniforms 
  
Play 1 ɉÁɊ 4ÈÅ ÍÁÎÁÇÅÒ ÁÎÄ ÃÏÁÃÈ ÏÆ ÔÅÁÍ Ȱ!ȱ ÁÒÅ ×ÅÁÒÉÎÇ ÌÏÎÇ ÐÁÎÔÓ ÉÎÓÔÅÁÄ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÔÅÁÍȭÓ ÒÅÇÕÌÁÒ 

ÓÈÏÒÔ ÓÔÙÌÅȟ ÏÒ ɉÂɊ ÔÈÅ ÍÁÎÁÇÅÒ ÁÎÄ ÃÏÁÃÈ ÏÆ ÔÅÁÍ Ȱ"ȱ ÁÒÅ ×ÅÁÒÉÎÇ ×ÏÒË ÃÌÏÔÈÅÓȢ 
 
Ruling:  (a) is legal as long as what they are wearing is in the same colour code as the team.  In (b) 

the work clothes are not legal.  The uniforms of the manager and coach may differ from that 
of the players, but those that are worn must be alike in colour and code, and in accordance 
with the color code of the team. Both should be dressed similarly, and both must be in long 
pants or in shorts. [2.6] 
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3.  PARTICIPANTS      
  

3.1.8  Illegal Player  
  
Play 1 In the 2nd inning, starting player F5 is legally substituted by S2.  In the 3rd inning, F5 

returns to the game without being announced to the umpire.  The game continues into the 
4th inning. 

 
Ruling:  As soon as F5 re-entered the game without being announced to the umpire, and one pitch 

has been thrown, they become an illegal player.  Even though the umpire may be aware of 
the Illegal Player, they may take no action until an appeal is made by the offended team. 
[3.1.8 a); 3.1.17; 3.2.3 e); 3.2.6 c); Effect 3.2.6] 

 
Play 2 "ςȟ ÁÎ ȰÉÌÌÅÇÁÌ ÐÌÁÙÅÒȱȟ ÂÁÔÔÅÄ ÁÎÄ ÈÉÔ ÉÎto a force out with R1 called out at 2B.  The defense 

ÁÐÐÅÁÌÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ "ς ÈÁÄ ÂÅÅÎ ÄÅÃÌÁÒÅÄ ȰÉÌÌÅÇÁÌȱ ÂÙ ÔÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅȢ 
 
Ruling:  After checking the line-ÕÐ ÃÁÒÄȟ ÔÈÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅ ÄÅÃÌÁÒÅÄ "ς Ȱ/ÕÔȱ ÁÎÄ ÄÅÃÌÁÒÅÄ Ȱ)ÎÅÌÉÇÉÂÌÅȢȱ  

Since R1 was also out, that out remains (2 outs).  A legal substitute must be entered into 
the game for B2. [3.1.8; Effects: 3.2.6 Effect a) to e)] 

 
3.1.9  Illegal Re-Entry  
  
Play 1 R1 on 1B with one out. B6 hits a ground ball to F6 for the double play.  Before the defense 

leaves the field, the defensive coach informs the plate umpire that the batter was an illegal 
re-entry.  What should the umpire rule? 

 
Ruling:  The double play is allowed to stand.  The illegal player and the manager are both ejected by 

the umpire. [3.1.9 b); 3.3 a)iii; Effects: 3.2.6 Illegal re-entry a) to d) Effect a) and e)] 
 
Play 2 "υȟ ÁÎ ȰÉÌÌÅÇÁÌ ÒÅ-ÅÎÔÒÙȱ ÔÁËÅÓ ÔÈÅÉÒ ÐÌÁÃÅ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ ÂÏØ ÁÎÄ ÈÁÓ Á ς-2 count.  It is now 

ÂÒÏÕÇÈÔ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÐÌÁÔÅ ÕÍÐÉÒÅȭÓ ÁÔÔÅÎÔÉÏÎ ÂÙ ÔÈÅ ÄÅÆÅÎÓÅ ÔÈÁÔ "υ ÉÓ ÁÎ ȰÉÌÌÅÇÁÌ ÒÅ-entry. 
 
Ruling:  B5 and the manager/coach are ejected.  The proper batter, or a legal substitute, must take 

ÔÈÅÉÒ ÐÌÁÃÅ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÔÔÅÒȭÓ ÂÏØ ÁÎÄ ÁÓÓÕÍÅ ÔÈÅ ς-2 count.  No one is out.  [3.1.9; 3.1.16; 3.3 
a)iii; Effects: 3.2.6 Illegal Re-entry a) to d) Effect a) to e)] 

 
Play 3 Starter Jones, (batting 7th) is removed from the game in the third inning for Substitute 

Smith.  In the fifth inning with runners in scoring position, the manager enters Jones into 
the second position in the batting order.  The defensive manager appeals to the umpire, 
after one pitch to Jones. 

 
Ruling:  An illegal re-entry and both Jones and the manager are ejected from the game. [3.1.9 a); 

3.1.16; 3.2.3 e); 3.2.6 b); 3.3 a)iii; Effects 3.2.6 a) Effect] 
 

Note:  Preventive umpiring would have avoided this from happening.  The umpire, should 
know that Jones was a starter, and must re-enter only in their original spot in the 
batting order.  

 
3.1.10  An Illegal Substitute  
  
Play 1 S1, who has been declared an ineligible player as a result of being an unreported substitute, 

returns to the game in a later inning. 
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Ruling:  The game is forfeited to the team not at fault. [3.1.10 c); 3.1.11; Effects: 3.2.6 Effect f); 1.2.2 

i) ] 
 

3.1.11  Ineligible Player  
  
Play 1 Smith is removed from the game for being an unreported substitute in the second inning.  

)Î ÔÈÅ ÆÏÕÒÔÈ ÉÎÎÉÎÇȟ 3ÍÉÔÈ ÇÏÅÓ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÔÈÉÒÄ ÂÁÓÅ ÃÏÁÃÈȭÓ ÂÏØ ÔÏ ÇÉÖÅ ÄÉÒÅÃÔÉÏÎ ÔÏ ÔÈÅÉÒ ÔÅÁÍ 
mates.  The defensive team now appeals that Smith should not be allowed to coach, as they 
were removed from the game. 

 
Ruling:  Smith may continue to act as a base coach, as Smith was only removed from the game, not 

ejected.  A player removed from the game by the umpire, may no longer participate as a 
player, but may coach. [3.1.11; 3.1.17] 

 

3.1.12  Ineligible Replacement Play er 
  
Play 1 Defensive player F5 is injured (and blood showing through their pants) when B4 slides into 

third base.  The replacement player inserted for F5 was the starting pitcher, who had been 
ÒÅÍÏÖÅÄ ÆÒÏÍ ÔÈÅ ÐÉÔÃÈÅÒȭÓ ÐÏÓÉÔÉÏÎ ÄÕÅ ÔÏ ÅØÃÅÓÓÉÖÅ ÃÏÎÆÅÒÅÎÃes by the manager. 

 
Ruling:  The umpire should not allow this player to enter as a replacement player [3.1.12 c); 3.1.14; 

3.2.5 e)] 
 
Play 2 )Î ÔÈÅ υÔÈ ÉÎÎÉÎÇȟ 0ÌÁÙÅÒ ! ÉÓ ÃÕÔ ÁÎÄ ÂÌÅÅÄÉÎÇ ÁÓ Á ÒÅÓÕÌÔ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÐÌÁÙȢ  0ÌÁÙÅÒ !ȭÓ ÃÏÁÃÈ ÁÓË 

to put in a replacement player because the bleeding cannot be stopped in a reasonable 
amount of time.  The coach asks if they can use Player B, who was a starting player but was 
substituted for in the 3rd inning. 

 
Ruling:  The umpire does not allow Player B to be a replacement player as Player B is still eligible 

to re-enter the game.  A substitute who has not been in the game or has been substituted 
out of the game or a starting player who has been substituted out of the game twice, may 
be a replacement player. [3.1.12 c); 3.1.14; 3.2.5 e)] 

 
3.1.17  Re-Entry   
 
Play 1 A team manager tells the plate umpire that substitute Jones is batting for Smith and Smith 

will re -enter on defense when the team next goes on defense. 
 
Ruling:  The umpire shall accept the substitution of Jones hitting for Smith, however no substitution 

(including re-entry) should be reported to the umpire until the substitution is actually 
made.  

 
Note:  Inform the manager to make the re-entry when the actual substitution occurs, 

because the team may bat around and Jones could bat again in the same inning. 
[3.1.16; 3.2.3 e); 3.2.6 c)] 

 
Play 2 Substitute Jones is entered into the game to bat for Smith in the third inning.  Smith re-

enters in the 4th inning.  In the 6th inning, Smith becomes injured and has blood on their 
uniform.  Jones is entered as a replacement player for Smith. 

 
Ruling:  This is legal.  A substitute cannot re-ÅÎÔÅÒ Á ÇÁÍÅ ÕÎÌÅÓÓ ÁÓ Á Ȱ2ÅÐÌÁÃÅÍÅÎÔ 0ÌÁÙÅÒȱ ÆÏÒ ÁÎ 

injured player under the blood ruling. [3.1.16; 3.2.6 e)ii, 3.2.6 f)] 


